Part 1 : 1883 — Beatrice’s first recorded visit to North
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Having recently moved from Exeter to Chester, the close proximity to North Wales led to the first of a
number of visits to the area by Beatrice and Annie, with Beatrice seemingly visiting on her own in
April 1883.1

The economic growth and technological advances of the Victorian era had made it possible for the
bridging of the Menai Strait separating Anglesey from the mainland thus achieving a more efficient
connection between London and Ireland via rail to the Holyhead-Dublin ferry service. The completion
of this rail line (in 1850) improved accessibility to the attractions of the North Wales coastline and
mountain scenery which were already catering to a growing leisure market.

Beatrices’s visit produced a record of what she observed along the relatively narrow strip of land
between Conwy and Bangor. Backed by Snowdonia and separated from Anglesey by the Menai Strait,
this was an area that had experienced a great deal of the layered pre-history and recorded history of
Wales and, more particularly, of North Wales.

Given its landform, location and natural resources, it would have served both as an important Celtic
refuge and a strategic asset to all attacking forces throughout the centuries.

! The total reliance on the contents of the available albums results in a great many assumptions having to be
made regarding the sisters’ whereabouts at any one time. While there is much evidence of their having sketched
in the south of England and in Chester prior to April 1883, there is no evidence indicating where Annie was in
1883. She did, however, record a few sketches of this portion of Gwynedd in 1891 — whereas there are none
from Beatrice in that year. As explained in the Introduction, because of the mixed-up nature of the contents of
the albums, an attempt is made to cluster the sketches according to place rather than time — hence the inclusion
of Annie’s sketches alongside those of Beatrice relating to this area.



Before the Romans invaded the area some two thousand years ago, the Celts had already occupied the
land for some three or four centuries but, long before that, Early, Middle and Late Stone Age peoples
had left evidence of their presence spanning almost a quarter of a million years.

As the stronghold of the Celts, the area suffered the Roman invasion and its four centuries of
occupation only to be followed by centuries of conflict with the peoples of England resulting in the
building of Offa’s Dyke in the eighth century. Viking attacks in the ninth and tenth centuries were
then followed by the Norman invasion in the eleventh century.

After a long period of both internal and external conflict, Wales experienced a state of relative
stability and unity during the first half of the thirteenth century which was primarily due to the
leadership role played by ‘Llywelyn the Great’ and his grandson ‘Llywelyn the Last’.

The latter part of the thirteenth century was marked by King Edward I’s invasion of Wales and the
building and re-building of his ring of castles throughout North Wales including Anglesey.

Following the growing resentment by the Welsh against the English throughout the fourteenth
century, Owain Glendwr’s rebellion during the first fifteen years of the fifteenth century saw the
short-lived revival of the Welsh sense of unity and nationhood. With the failure of the rebellion,
England’s domination of Wales was complete and the sixteenth century saw Henry VIII passing the
Act of Union (formally tying Wales to England), imposing English as the official language of Wales
and outlawing the Roman Catholic Church with the result that all the monasteries were destroyed.

During the seventeenth century, much of the fighting between the English Crown and Parliamentary
forces (under Cromwell) took place in Wales due to the strategic nature of its various castles — a
number of which suffered severe damage.

The second half of the eighteenth century was a time of industrial development with large-scale
mining being accompanied by extensive road, bridge and canal construction together with the rapid
growth of commerce and trade.

Aided by improved means of travel, the scenic and recreational attributes of North Wales (together
with its historic places of interest) gave rise to an influx of tourists — helped by the publication of
Thomas Pennant’s Tours in Wales (1778) and Journey to Snowdon (1783).

Importantly, the above also led to some of Britain’s finest watercolourists (Turner, Girtin, the Varley
brothers, Cotman and Cox) visiting the area and recording its scenic beauty.’

2 All the above was sourced from :
Ross, David, Wales — History of a Nation, Geddes & Grosset, Scotland 2005 (as detailed in the Historic
Background) and Wilton, Andrew, British Watercolours 1750-1850 Phaidon Press Ltd, Oxford, 1977



Great Orme from Penmaenmawr

19 April 1883 (B)

The Great Orme headland, off Llandudno,
comprises a huge chunk of limestone that has
conservation status because of its rich natural
environment and, most importantly, its history.

At the time Beatrice painted this, she would not
have known that the headland was the site of the
largest prehistoric mine (so far discovered in the
world) as the tunnels were only uncovered
during landscaping works in 1987.

From available evidence, Archaeologists have estimated that the underground tunnels date back 4 000
years to the Bronze Age — about the same time that Stonehenge was being built. The copper mining
took place over approximately a thousand years before being abandoned.’

A significant detail in the picture is the smoke trail emanating from the steam train.

Penmaenmawr 20 April 1883 (B) — (this being the name of both the mountain and the village)
The long pier was used to transport quarried rock %

to ships delivering the material even as far as to
Europe. While this took place during the 1900’s,
the use of the rock material dates back two or
three thousand years as evidenced by the polished
stone axe-heads found in the area. Even older, are
the stone circles found on the mountain which
date back to Neolithic times — some five thousand
years ago.*

While Beatrice may have known of the existence
of the remnants of a stone-age hill fort on the top of the mountain, it has since ceased to exist because
of intensive quarrying undertaken during WWII.

Penrhyn Castle from Llanfairfechen Station 19" April 1883 (B)

The Station was opened in 1860; it being on the Chester to Holyhead line WhICh had 0 ened |n 1848.
The towers of Penrhyn Castle are in the middle =~
distance with Anglesey in the far distance. Barely =
visible, is the Garth Pier seen stretching out into the
Menai Strait. It was only opened in 1896 so must |
have been under construction when painted by g
Beatrice thirteen years earlier.”

* Conwy County Borough Council — visit Llandudno

* Morris p249, theeyepenmaenmawr.org website
> Wikipedia



Bangor and Penrhyn 18" Sept 1891 (A)

Penrhyn Castle sits amongst its large wooded
estate with Bangor over to the left and looking
across the Menai Strait towards Anglesey.

The building was constructed (between 1822-
1837) in the form of a Norman castle. It was built
by the Pennant family with proceeds from the slate
industry.

The castle was seen to represent the huge gap that
existed between the| workers and the wealthy landowners/industrialists.

Lord Penrhyn (as the head of the Pennant family had now become) refused to recognise, let alone
negotiate with, the union formed by the quarrymen in 1896. After an initial lockout of a year, work
was resumed but then, in 1900, a three-year lockout took place resulting in much hardship and
bitterness. The political impact of the lockout was also profound — in the general election of 1906, the
Liberal party won all but one of the thirty-four

Welsh seats; the one going to Labour.

Competing providers of slate and alternative forms - R,
of roofing resulted in the drastic weakening of what *
had been the world’s largest slate quarry. Penrhyn
Castle finally ceased to exist as a family domain in
1951 and was taken over by the National Trust.°

Penrhyn Sept 14" 1891 (A)

Tenvhyn « Sapt.pp- 491
From Aber 19" April 1883 (B)

Abergwyngregyn (known locally as Aber) is a tiny village located between the Menai Strait and the
foothills of Snowdonia and is well-known for the nearby Aber Falls. The area has great historic
importance as it served as the strategic crossing point of the Menai Strait to Anglesey and much
evidence still exists of occupation from prehistoric times through to the Roman period.

Beatrice may have been acquainted with its history and, particularly, the traditional conviction that
this had been the ‘palace’ of Llywelyn ap Gruffudd, the first and last prince of a ‘free’ Wales who
died in 1282.” However, given the above vista — well
above the village, her attraction to the area might
possibly have been to simply visit the nearby
waterfall which was visit ed and painted by Annie
eight years later. (See over page)

Whatever the purpose of Beatrice’s visit in 1883, she
would most certainly have been interested to learn

® Ross p206, nationaltrust.org website
" Morris p67/8, Wikipedia




that one-hundred and thirty-one years later the Former Plaid Cymry Member of Parliament would
describe the site as “a place that holds the soul of the nation” and that the presenter of the BBC

programme “History of Wales” would declare that “it is »
probably the most important site in the history of Wales.”®

The reasons for these statements were that archival
documentation had been discovered which proved that either
the property Pen y Bryn or the adjacent site was indeed the
location of Llywelan’s so-called ‘palace’ Aber Garth Celyn.

Differences of opinion seem to exist regarding the exact
position of the medieval buildings but there is now general
acceptance that this is the location from which Llywelyn’s
letter of defiance to the English was written and which then
ultimately sparked Edward I’s construction of his ‘ring’ of
castles and taking on himself (as the first ‘outsider’) the title
of Prince of Wales.?

Aber falls from the hills 13 Sep 1891 (A)

Conway Castle from Penmaen Bach Hill April
20 1883 (B)

Now known as Conwy Castle, it formed part of | ’
the second wave of Edward I’s castle-building
during the thirteenth century. The monastery of
Aberconwy was moved stone by stone to make
way for the castle at Conwy.

As with some of the other castles, a walled
settlement was established outside the castle —
following the pattern of the French bastide
towns. Conwy remains one of the best examples of a walled town in Europe.™

The castle had become run down and severely damaged by the seventeenth century but the town walls
and its towers are still intact. The suspension bridge stretching over the Conwy River to Llandudno
Junction was designed by Thomas Telford and completed in 1826. Together with his bridge over the
Menai Strait, they were amongst the first-ever suspension road bridges built. It carried vehicular
traffic for well over a hundred years until being replaced by a new road bridge — and is now restricted
to vehicular traffic.™

8 Daily Post 2 September 2014 : Wendy Jones

® The Telegraph : BBC history team solves riddle of Llywelyn : 31 January 2006 Ben Fenton
*Morris p307

" bid., p304/5



Conway Castle from Llandudno Junction Sept 30 1884 (B)

The railway bridge connecting Llandudno |
Junction to Conwy was designed by |
Robert Stephenson and completed in

1848. As with his railway bridge over the

Menai Strait (completed two years later), A
it was a tubular construction and was the
first of its kind. The bridge itself is not
visible in the depiction alongside but its
near-side end is marked by the openings
in the tower which was designed (with
mock arrow slits) to be visually =
compatible with the castle. The tower g
immediately behind it marks the far-side of the bridge."

Conway Castle from Degenway June
1888 (B)

Looking from north-east to south-west
with the rail/road crossing to the left and
Carneddau mountains in the far distance.
Conwy Castle had been the subject of
many well-known artists such as Turner,
Girtin and John Varley.

Plas Mawr Conway June 5 1888 (B)

By late in the sixteenth century, the o
wealthiest landowners and merchants were = , s
building large manor houses with glazed 114
windows, decorative plasterwork and ‘.,;
ornamentation. !‘{ i
‘JH
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Plas Mawr was built between1576 and
1585 and is considered to be the finest
intact Elizabethan townhouse in Britain.**

2 Morris p304
B Tate.org website, Kauffmann, Stainton
* Ross pp 139/140



Bangor from steamer “Menai” Sept 17 1887
(B)

(It is unfortunate that the details of the |
buildings of this, the oldest ci ty in Wales, are g A
not more clearly evident in the painting) o

Menai Bridge from Bangor April 21 1883 (B)

Menai Bridge is a small town on Anglesey — named after the celebrated suspension bridge. Located at
the closest crossing point to the mainland, the site is believed to have been inhabited for thousands of
years as evidenced by the finding of stone axes dating back to the Neolithic Period together with
artefacts from the Bronze Age.

Thomas Telford’s suspension bridge and Robert
Stephenson’s railway bridge are off to the left
of this view of the Menai Strait. Before they
were built, the only way to reach Anglesey was
by ferry. The invasion by the Romans in AD59
was supposedly by means of rafts and
swimming their horses across. *°

Menai Bridges April 24? 1883 (?B) *°

This view of the two bridges appears to be from the Anglesey side looking towards Menai Bridge
town with Telford’s suspension bridge (completed 1826) in the front and Stephenson’s tubular
railway bridge (completed 1850) behind it. -

The suspension bridge exists today exactly as
built and indicated here except it now only
carries pedestrians.

The tubular bridge was partially destroyed by a
fire in 1970 and was restructured to now carry
the main London to Holyhead roadway on top
of the railway deck."’

> Morris p304, Menai Bridge Community Heritage Trust
18 This was a loose sketch and is assumed to have been done by Beatrice rather than Annie — the exact date

being difficult to decipher

17
As above



Bangor Cathedral April 21 1883 (B)

Dating back to the days of the Celtic Christianity in the sixth century, the original religious house was
founded by St Deiniol. The building suffered destruction by the Normans in the eleventh century, by
King John in thirteenth century, by Edward I later in the same century and finally during Owen
Glendwr’s rebellion in the fifteenth century.

Restoration and rebuilding took place after each destructive episode and the existing cathedral was
finally completed in 1866. *°

The dominance in Wales of the English in all matters, |nclud|ng rellglon and the extent to which the
Established Church had distanced itself from the people A
was exemplified by the fact that between 1714 and
1870 not a single Welsh-speaking bishop was appointed
to the cathedrals in Wales. Benjamin Hoadley, the | %3
Bishop of Bangor at that time, apparently never set foot A\
in Wales.

A vyear after Beatrice’s visit to Bangor in 1883, the
University College of North Wales was opened — in the
Penrhyn Arms Hotel which had been leased from the
Penrhyn Estate. It was later to become Bangor
University.?
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The establishment of the University would have pleased
Owain Glendwr — even if it was four hundred years after
the establishment of universities in north and south
Wales had been his stated wish during his rebellion to
secure Wales as a separate and unified nation in the
fifteenth century. At the time, Oxford University had
already been in existence for some three-hundred years
and many Welsh students studying at Oxford had left
their studies to join the rebellion.?

Yew avenue Llandegai Church Sept 11" 1891 (A)

St Tegai’s is a village church built for the Penrhyn Estate workers
in the fourteenth century. St Tegai’s original place of worship was
on a nearby site and had been established in the sixth century.

The village of LLandegai was built as a model village in the
eighteen hundreds. It falls just outside Penrhyn Park and is nearby
Bangor.?

18 Britainexpress.com., David Ross editor
* Morris p107 and Encyclopaedia Britannica
20 .
Bangor.ac.uk website
' Ross pl16
%2 Church in Wales




Part 2 : 1885 First visit together

1885 saw the first of a number of a number of trips /
Beatrice and Annie took together and which are .
recorded by the sketches they made.

They were then living in the King’s Buildings, Chester ~ Lleyn Peninsula

as stated in the front of their respective albums. __ r== =<l k{7
Beatrice was 29 and Annie, 23. AT i
\‘ Harlech A487
Beatrice had been in Oxford during May - with R 5
sketches of Maudlin (Magdalen) Tower and New '\'\ Llanbedr
College. There is no record of where Annie had been i
or what she’d been doing in the two years before 1885 1;;,,-.”““”]\\- /.’/;:l)ollgclhlu
- her last sketches in 1882 being of Dartmoor on the & thon A it
12" September and a very rough undated pencil sketch i ¢ ‘
of the King’s Buildings, Chester. These are found in ,'
her album notated Wonford Hill, Exeter March, 1882. .
&
The first sketches in Annie’s 1885 album are undated \

ones of the Cloisters, Chester and of the bridge at Llangollen.

Having presumably arrived by rail from Chester via
Llangollen, the adjoining sketch is that of Dollgelly
(Dollgellau) Station by Annie on the 8" September 1885.
This is followed by the first instance of the two of them
having painted the same subject matter in Wales.?

The rail link from Chester via Llangollen to Dollgellau had
been established in the 1860’s and would have been a highly [ :
sought-after means of travellmg across mid-Wales to the western coastllne Wlth its scenic Iandscape
and historic attractions.?*

S&W on sandhills Barmouth Sept 10. 85 (B’s on the left, A’s on the rlght)

% This is the only record indicating that their brothers (Sidney and Wilfred) accompanied them on this trip.

24 With the diminishing demand for rail as opposed to road travel and sparked by the flooding of Dollgellau Station and
other parts of the route in 1964, the rail link was closed down the next year — almost a hundred years after its completion.
(John Rutter : Llangollen Railway Archive and History Website 2007)
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From Arthog Station Sept 10™ 1885 (A) — (closed since 1965)

Looking north-eastwards across the Afon Mawddach, the mountain backdrop to this stretch of
coastline is scenically wild and steeped in the history and the legends of the Welsh. With glaciated
Cader Idris prominently displayed, these mountains formed the subject of many unfinished sketches
by both Beatrice and Annie. They clearly spent much of their time both walking and recording their
closely observed surroundings. An imposing waterfall was sketched by both of them.

The coastline with views of Barmouth also
featured in their incomplete sketches as did the
view (alongside — by A) looking towards Harlech
Castle with the Snowdonia mountains behind.

After crossing over the Barmouth Rail Bridge
(completed in 1867), they visited the St Mary and
St Bodfan Church at Llanaber. Built in the early
thirteenth century, it is considered to be one of the
finest examples of Early English Gothic
architecture in Wales.?

Llanaber N. Wales
Sept 12" 1885 (A)

Harlech
Sept. 14™ 1885 (A)
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Harlech Castle was the southern-most of Edward I’s ring of castles. It was completed in 1289 and (as
can be seen by the previous sketch) its size and location present a formidable bearing on the
landscape. It made for a good stronghold which is exactly why it has experienced some of the major
historic events of Wales.

Five years after its completion, it (together with other castles) was attacked by Madog ap Llywelyn’s
rebel army. The uprising was effectively put an end to in the following year by Edward’s English
army.

Just over a hundred years’ later, in 1403, the castle was taken over by Owain Glyndwr’ This being
part of the fifteen year period in which (for the only time) a sense of Welsh nationhood seemed
possible. He is considered to have been the only true Prince of Wales.

Harlech Castle (B)

This was Glyndwr’s headquarters - where his parliament
was once held and from where his alliance with France was
forged. This alliance was not only aligned to military aid but
also involved negotiations with Pope Benedict Il to
establish an archdiocese in Wales independent of
Canterbury. It was where his dreams of two universities —
one in the south and one in the north were formulated.

Even with the fall of the castle to the forces of Henry IV in
1408, Glyndwr continued his guerrilla resistance over the
next five years. In 1415 he refused an offer of pardon from
Henry V and is believed to have lived out his life in quiet
seclusion with his daughter and her husband — an
Englishman.

In 1647 the Castle was the last royalist defence to fall to

Cromwell’s Parliamentary forces in the Civil War against
King Charles 1.%°

Harlech Castle Sept 14™ 1885 (A)

The castle was understandably the subject of paintings by
many artists — among the best known being Turner, Cox and
John Varley.”’

%® Ross pp 110-116
* Kauffman
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Caerdeon Church Sept 15" 1885 (B) |

This church was also sketched by Annie — from the same
perspective. At the time of these sketches, this church had
been in existence for only twenty-odd years.

Having experienced the six-hundred year-old Llanaber
Church, this building must have seemed somewhat of an
oddity.

St Philip’s Church (Caerdeon Chapel) was established as a
private chapel by the owner of the Caerdion estate who
objected to the fact that the services at LLanaber were only
conducted in Welsh. It was designed along the lines of
Pyrenean buildings and (other than the building material
used) was completely alien to the feel of Welsh building.

Its services were conducted in English and this led to the
owner being taken to court by the Rector of Llanaber — the
upshot being the passing of the English Services in Wales Act of 1863 by the House of Lords. This
Act meant that English Services could be provided if ten or more parishioners requested them — thus
modifying the previous requirement that services in predominantly Welsh districts were to be held in
Welsh.?

Caerdeon is also known for the fact that Charles Darwin spent his summer holidays (both from school
and university) in the area and its environment must have had some influence on his developing
interests as a naturalist.”®

The Origin of Species had been published in 1859 and it would seem unlikely that the sisters would
not have been aware of its importance in generating the conflict between orthodox religion and
scientific thought.

What he (Darwin) wasn’t to know was that (in 1964) the oldest surviving life-form — an organism
Kakabekia barghoorniana — was to be found just a few miles away near Harlech. It was declared to
have been in existence for 2000 million years.*

To what extent the above matters (other than the above discovery) occupied the thoughts and
conversations of Beatrice and Annie while sitting sketching is not known. However, the history of
Harlech Castle would almost certainly have been familiar to them — although it possibly might not
have occurred to them that the very next day (16" September) it would have been 485 years to the day
that Owain Glyndwr was declared by his followers, to be the Prince of Wales.

%% (N Vousden RCAHMW 2012 Coflein)
29 (David Barnes : The Companion Guide to Wales 2005)
30 (Morris p25)
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Dolgelly (Dolgellau) Sept 16"
1885 (A)

This bridge (over the Wnion)
dates back to 1638.

Dolgellau was an important
market town not only because of
its confluence of travel routes
from the north, south and east but
also because of its being the centre
of the wool industry. It was the
southern gateway to the mountains
of Snowdonia, close to the seaside
and displayed a particularly high
concentration of well-conserved buildings.

Its attraction to ‘tourists’ dated back to the eighteenth century. However, with the expanded middle
class, a heightened sense of freedom of enjoyment and adventure, the advent of rail travel and the
publication of travel guides, the latter half of the nineteenth century experienced a general flood of
summer holidaymakers — Beatrice and Annie amongst them.

Dollgelau, at the time of the sisters’ visit, was experiencing a particularly strong boom period which
accompanied the mining of gold which began in the 1860’s. These workings, just a couple of miles
from Dollgelau, continued to be in use until the late 1900’s. Because of its scarcity, Welsh gold is
highly valued and has been used to make the wedding rings of all Royal weddings in Britain since
1923%

According to a recent press release, gold mining activities are due to be re-commenced.*

Entrance to the Torrent Walk, Dolgelly Sept 16™ 1885
(A)

Torrent Walk runs along the Afon (River) Clywedog and
was reportedly built as a walkway in the late 1800’s and so
may or may not have been formally in place at the time of
this visit.

The Walk was designed by Thomas Payne who became
better known for having designed an embankment (The
Cob) across the Glaslyn River. *

*! Morris p 264
3 Daily Post 4 December 2017
** Snowdonia.info. The Cob is described in their 1886 Visit — relating to the Ffestiniog Station sketch.
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Following the 16 September
1885 sketches, both albums
contain a number of unfinished,
unnamed and undated sketches
of the mountains — all clearly
from an elevated height. This
one (by Beatrice) is the most
complete. It was also sketched
by Annie but remained
unfinished.

The photographs below verify
its location — on the summit of
the ridge of Cader Idris. The
highest  point  (Penygadair
891m) is off to the left and they would have sat sketchlng from the vicinity of Craig Cau.*

Paintings of Cader Idris are recorded from numerous well-known artists — including, understandably,
Richard Wilson who was born . S 5 e ;

close by. John Varley painted
the sunrise from the top of
Cader Idris in 1804.%

After days of visiting castles,
churches and waterfalls these
sketches mark the end of what
we know of their movements
during 1885.

They were clearly not averse to
strenuous activity even in the
garb of the day.

However, it is noted that (at
the time) it would have been
possible to hire and ride a pony
to within two-hundred yards of

the summit. *

. Photographs from TripAdvisor LLC

** Kauffman
3 Bishop, Peter ; Vision and Revision ; Mountain Scenery in Snowdonia 1850-1880. 2001 p41
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Part 3 : 1886 Visit to Lleyn Peninsula and inland

1
I Snowdon &
. _ V' A487
A small village on the Lleyn Peninsula, /0
Llanstumdwy is probably best known because of , Beddgelert o
its association with David Lloyd George. Born in =, ) |
Manchester in 1863, his father died when he was s ont Aberglaslyn o
two and he was brought to this village to be //
brought up by his uncle. Richard Lloyd was a .\ .~ i
shoemaker and a Baptist Pastor Llanystumdwy ~CTECIEH
p . ;_._ ".‘ ¢ '4"
) ) ) Gwynfryn e 4 e ,'
David’s boyhood in a Welsh-speaking il "' -
community instilled the strong views he had P o N
relating to Welsh nationalism, religious ‘_1 ,‘
Nonconformity and the plight of the working ; =
class. These views were to inform his political ™~ .’! '\'
career that began as the youngest member of the (P \

House of Commons in 1890 and ended fifty
years later. Holding various Cabinet positions, he was largely responsible for laying down the
foundations of the welfare state. He was Britain’s first ‘Welsh’ Prime Minister (from 1906 to 1922)
and he guided Britain to victory in the First World
War. He died in 1945 and is buried here in the
village. %

Addressing the House of Commons, Churchill said: 5.
“When the English history of the first quarter of the 4
twentieth century is written it will be found that the ?
greater part of our fortunes, in peace and in war, o<
were shaped by this one man.” 3 22 4

Llanstumdwy Sept 14™ 1886 (A)

At the time of Annie’s sketching of the bridge, she would have had no knowledge of the above and
certainly not that the newly qualified solicitor (practising out of the parlour of
his uncle’s house in the village nearby) would become Britain’s future Prime
Minister.

Fast-forward forty-six years, Beatrice (aged 76) sketched this aspect of
Gwynfryn Manor House. Built on an older house dating back to the sixteenth
century, it was replaced in 1876 by this mock-Gothic mansion by the Tory
MP Hugh Ellis-Nunnery who was the squire of LLanystumdwy.

Gwynfryn Aug.10. 1932 Llanystumdwy Criccieth (B)

It was therefore ironic that David Lloyd George should, in his first election as

*” Encyclopaedia Britannica
*® Were David Lloyd George to have been alive during this address, he would probably have
interjected with “British, not English history”.
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the Liberal candidate for Caernarfon, have Hugh Ellis-Nunnery as his opponent. In winning this 1890
election, not only did he acquire a seat in the House of Commons (which he’d occupy for the next
fifty years) but it validated what he stood for — that political power could lie even in the cottage-bred
middle class.*

Plas Gwynfryn ceased to exist as a family home in 1928 and, when Beatrice sketched it in 1932, it
would have been run as a retirement home for the clergy.*

ssin’ |
~ Sept.14™ 1886 (A)

With no reference to its location, it is possible (given the date) that it is in the vicinity of
Llanystumdwy - with a view north-eastwards towards Snowdonia.**

From Festiniog Station Sept 15™ 1886 (A) — with
its view down towards Tremadoc Bay

Llan Ffestiniog village (referred to by the locals and
hereafter as ‘Llan’) lies some four miles downslope
from the old mining town of Blynau Ffestiniog.

From the 1760’s onwards, many of the villagers
slogged their way up the valley from Llan to work
on the slate quarries that grew at a rapid pace. By
the early 1800’s slate from these quarries was being
shipped all over the world and, to house these
miners and craftsmen, the new town of Blynau
Ffestiniog was established.

The expansion of the slate industry arose from the
demand to replace thatch and tiling as a roofing
material and was largely facilitated by the actions
of William Madocks. His building, in 1811, of an
embankment (The Cob) across the Glaslyn estuary
was initially aimed both at reclaiming floodable
land and creating a transport link from mid-Wales
to the LLeyn Peninsula. This enabled the building

% Morris p406-7 and Paul White Grand Declines — Welsh ruins and Welsh ruined mansions 1989-2017
** Morris p407
* On-site verification is, of course, required as is the case with many of the sketches lacking any notation.
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of the harbour which, at the height of the slate trade became world-famous because of its linkages to
various parts of Europe, America, Australia, Africa and elsewhere. *

By the 1850’s Blynau Ffestiniog had a
population of over 3 000. Thirty years
later, it was one of the largest towns in
North Wales with a population in excess
of 11 000. Llan Ffestiniog remained a
village with a population of less than a
thousand.”®

Festiniog Station Sep.15.1886 (B)

It is likely that Beatrice and Annie would
have made the short trip from
LLanystumdwy to Porthmadog, caught ;
the train to Blynau Ffestiniog and then on to LLan Ffestiniog where these palntlngs were done.

The above travel description takes on particular meaning when dwelling on the history of the railway
in this area.

To transport the slate from Blynau Ffestiniog to the new harbour at Porthmadog, a narrow gauge
railway was constructed in 1836. The loaded carriages were sent downhill by gravity - all of 11 miles
(18kms) — and the empty carriages were pulled uphill by horses which had travelled downhill in a
specially made wagon. Even though steam locomotives were being used elsewhere, the narrowness
of the railway and its sharply-winding nature meant that it was only in 1863 that specially-designed
locomotives could finally replace the reliance on horses. The innovations introduced by the Ffestiniog
Railway have been adopted by other narrow gauge railways throughout the world.*

A passenger service was introduced and the line extended to Llan where the station was opened in
1868. Because the carriages were so low, there was no need for a platform — as noted in the painting.

The decline of the slate industry - from the 1890’s onwards - coincided with the great number of
tourists to the area which continued to rise as new rail links were introduced. This culminated in the
Ffestiniog Rail and Welsh Highland Railways current tourist attraction linking Blynauw Ffestiniog
with Caernarfon which was finally opened in 2011. ©

While the focus of events in the 19" and early 20" centuries lay with the growth of the slate industry,
of Blynauw Ffestiniog and rail travel, The Llan Ffestionog station was to experience its own moment
of importance during World War II.

To ensure the protection of Britain’s major artworks such as those in the National Gallery and in other
collections , they were secreted to Aberystwyth, Penrhyn Castle and to Bangor University at the
outbreak of the war. However, with the threat of attack by the Luftwaffe, a safer and more remote site

* Morris p259/60.

* Phil Carradice, Phil., Wales History : William Madocks and the Cob at Porthmadog, 6 Dec 2011

a Ffestionog and Welsh Highland Railways — festrail.co.uk

* The full story of the Ffestiniog and Welsh Highland Railways during the 19" and 20" centuries (and even into
this century) makes for fascinating reading with regard to the role of visionaries and of others prepared to
volunteer their labouring efforts.
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was sought for their safekeeping. An abandoned underground slate mine between Llan and Blynauw
Ffestiniog was selected and, under great secrecy, the artworks were railed to Llan station in 1941 and
then taken by lorry up to the mine. A painting by Anthony van Dyck was so big that the road had to
be lowered for it to be transported under a stone bridge. The mine itself was made fully air
conditioned and here a great many of the Nation-owned masterpieces remained for the duration of the
war.*®

Although the nature of the slate industry resulted in a dusty unhealthy environment, Morris stressed
the high level of social cohesion and literacy that existed amongst the almost exclusively Welsh-
speaking community of highly-skilled craftsmen, quarrymen and miners.*’

While the industry left an environmental blot on the landscape resulting in Blynauw Ffestiniog and its
surroundings being excluded from the Snowdonia National Park, the town and many of the workings
have become an important heritage attraction.

Pont Aberglaslyn Sept 16" 1886 (A) — looking
downstream

Crossing over the Glaslyn River at the southern
end of the Pass, this has been the subject of
countless sketches and paintings by some of
Britain’s best known watercolour artists. This
included Paul Sandby, Francis Towne, JMW
Turner, Cotman, Cox and John Varley..*?

Built in the 17" century, the bridge was rebuilt |
and widened in the 1790’s. The Bridge House was
built in the mid 1800’s. Before The Cob was built
across the Glaslyn estuary, the river was tidal and
navigable by small craft right up to the bridge.

Immediately above the bridge, a well-known
salmon leap existed. It appears to be no longer in
existence when this painting was done but is
clearly shown in the many earlier paintings and
illustrations of the bridge when viewed from
downstream.

The illustrated travel guides and books produced during the late 1700’s and early 1800’s
drew attention to the beauty and grandeur of Snowdonia in particular which led to the artists
of the day flocking to this area both to view and record the scenery for themselves and also to
fulfil the commissions offered them by their patrons and the general public.*®

e Crump, Eryl, Daily Post 16 April 2016

* Morris pp 266-7

a8 Bishop, Peter, Vision & Revision : Mountain Scenery in Snowdonia 1750-1880

* Thomas Pennant’s ‘Tours in Wales’, 